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Spokeo, Inc. v Robins and the Status of Standing Based Upon Technical 
Violations of Federal Statutes. 

By Jeffrey Dovitz, Cohen Jutla Dovitz Makowka, LLC 

1. Spokeo, Inc. v Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540 (May 16, 2016) 
a. The Fair Credit Reporting Act of 1970, 15 USC 1681 et seq. 

i. The FCRA seeks to ensure fair and accurate credit reporting and 
regulates the use of consumer credit reports by consumer reporting 
agencies for purposes of credit transactions, insurance, licensing, 
consumer-initiated business transactions, and employment. 
§1681a(d)(1)(A) – (C); §1681b. 

ii. The FCRA applies to companies that regularly disseminate 
information bearing on an individual’s “credit worthiness, credit 
standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal 
characteristics, or mode of living. §1681a(d)(1). 

iii. The FCRA requires consumer reporting agencies to follow 
reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of 
consumer reports (§1681e(b)), to notify providers and users of 
consumer information of their responsibilities under the FCRA 
(§1681e(d)), to limit the circumstances in which such agencies 
provide consumer reports for employment purposes (§1681b(b)(1)), 
and to post toll-free numbers for consumers to request reports 
(§1681j(a)). 

iv. The FCRA provides that any person who willfully fails to comply 
with any requirement of the Act with respect to any individual is 
liable to that individual for actual damages or statutory damages 
of $100 to $1,000 per violation, costs of the action and attorney’s 
fees, and possible punitive damages. §1681n(a). 

b. What is Spokeo 
i. www.spokeo.com 

ii. A “people search engine” research website that allows you to 
lookup information on an unknown caller, a date, new neighbor. 

iii. Allows you to find family, friends, love interests. 
iv. Per Spokeo’s website, they are not a credit reporting agency and do 

not offer consumer reports. 
v. Per Spokeo’s website, they do not have access to secure or private 

financial information and one may not use Spokeo for credit, 
tenant or insurance screening purposes.  The use of Spokeo’s 
platform for purposes of employee screening is strictly prohibited. 
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vi. Robins alleges that Spokeo does qualify as a consumer reporting 
agency under the FCRA because it operates a website that allows 
users to search for information about other individuals by name, e-
mail address, or phone number. 

vii. Robins alleges that when an inquiry is submitted on Spokeo’s 
platform, Spokeo searches a wide spectrum of databases and 
gathers and provides information such as the individual’s address, 
phone number, marital status, approximate age, occupation, 
hobbies, finances, shopping habits, and musical preferences. 

viii. Robins alleges that Spokeo markets its services to a variety of 
users, including employers who want to evaluate prospective 
employees, those who want to investigate prospective romantic 
partners, and those seeking other personal information. 

c. Who is Robins 
i. Thomas Robins is an individual residing in the Central District of 

California. 
ii. At some point in time, someone (no specific person or organization 

is identified in Robin’s complaint against Spokeo) initiated a search 
request through Spokeo about Robins. 

iii. Robins became aware of the contents of that profile and discovered 
that it contained inaccurate information.  Robins asserts that his 
Spokeo profile provides that he is married, has children, is in his 
50’s, that he has a job, is relatively affluent, and holds a graduate 
degree.  Robins has none of those.  Spokeo also had an incorrect 
picture of him. 

iv. Robins alleges that this inaccurate reporting resulted in his 
continued unemployment for various reasons and has led to 
emotional distress. 

d. Procedural History 
i. Trial Court – Robins v. Spokeo, Inc., CV10-05306 (C.D. Cal, filed 

2010). 
1. Spokeo’s motion to dismiss Robin’s First Amended 

Complaint is granted in part and denied in part. 
2. While finding that Robins has alleged facts specific to 

survive the motion to dismiss as to whether or not the FCRA 
applies to Spokeo, the portion of the First Amended 
Complaint alleging violations of California’s Unfair 
Competition Law is dismissed. 
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3. The court then reconsiders and issues a subsequent ruling 
and finds that Robins lack standing as the alleged harms are 
speculative, attenuated and implausible.  The court states 
that a mere violation of the FCRA does not confer standing 
under Article III of the U.S. Constitution where no injury of 
act is properly pled.  Additionally, the court states that 
Robins fails to alleges facts sufficient to trace his alleged 
harm to Spokeo’s alleged conduct. 

ii. Appellate Court – Robins v. Spokeo, Inc., 742 F.3d 409 (9th Cir. 
2014). 

1. The issue before the 9th Circuit was whether violations of the 
statutory rights created by the FCRA are “concrete, de facto 
injuries”.  The U.S. Supreme Court had previously held in 
Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992), that 
Congress can elevate statutory violations that were 
previously inadequate in law to the status of a legally 
cognizable and concrete de facto injury. Lujan at 578. 

2. In order to confer standing, the 9th Circuit identifies two 
requirements for congressional power to confer standing: (1) 
the plaintiff must be among the injured; and (2) the 
statutory right at issue must protect individual, rather than 
collective, harm. 

3. The 9th Circuit held that Robins’s personal interest in the 
handling of his credit information is individualized rather 
than collective.  Thus, he satisfies the injury-in-fact 
requirement of Article III. 

4. But in addition to injury-in-fact, standing requires causation 
and redressability.  When injury-in-fact is the violation of a 
statutory right that the court inferred from the existence of 
a private cause of action, causation and redressability will 
usually be satisfied.  First, there is little doubt that a 
defendant’s alleged violation of a statutory provision 
“caused” the violation of a right created by that provision.  
Second, statutes like the FCRA frequently provide for 
monetary damages, which redress the violation of statutory 
rights.  Therefore, Robins has adequately pled causation and 
redressability in his case. 

e. US Supreme Court’s Ruling and Analysis – What is required for standing 
under Article III of the Constitution? 
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i. Article III of the Constitution endowed the federal court system 
with the judicial power to decide cases and controversies. 

ii. The irreducible constitutional minimum of standing consists of the 
following: (1) plaintiff suffered an injury in fact (concrete and 
particularized injury); (2) that is fairly traceable to the challenged 
conduct of the defendant; and; (3) that is likely to be redressed by a 
favorable judicial decision. 

iii. Injury-in-fact is a constitutional requirement and it is settled that 
Congress cannot erase Article III’s standing requirements by 
statutorily granting the right to sue a plaintiff who would not 
otherwise have standing. 

iv. To establish an injury-in-fact, a plaintiff must show that he or she 
suffered an invasion of a legally protected interest that is 
“concrete and particularized” and “actual or imminent, not 
conjectural or hypothetical.” 

v. For an injury to be “particularized,” it must affect the plaintiff in a 
personal and individual way. 

vi. But a particularized injury alone is not enough, the injury must 
also be concrete.  A concrete injury must be “de facto,” that is it 
must actually exist.  Concrete means real and not abstract. 

vii. But a “concrete” injury need not be tangible.  Intangible injuries, 
such as slander, libel, or violation of civil or voting rights, can be 
concrete. 

viii. In determining whether an intangible harm constitutes injury-in-
fact, both history and the judgment of Congress play important 
roles.  It is instructive to consider whether an alleged intangible 
harm has a close relationship to a harm that has traditionally been 
regarded as providing a basis for a lawsuit in English or American 
courts. 

ix. Because Congress is well positioned to identify intangible harms 
that meet minimum Article III requirements, its judgment is also 
instructive and important.  Thus, as was said in Lujan, Congress 
may “elevate to the status of legally cognizable injuries concrete, de 
facto injuries that were previously inadequate in law.” 

x. Congress’ role in identifying and elevating intangible harms does 
not mean that a plaintiff automatically satisfies the injury-in-fact 
requirement whenever a statute grants a person a statutory right 
and purports to authorize that person to sue to vindicate that 
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right.  Article III standing requires a concrete injury even in the 
context of a statutory violation.   

xi. This does not mean, however, that the risk of real harm cannot 
satisfy the requirement of concreteness.  The violation of a 
procedural right granted by statute can be sufficient in some 
circumstances to constitute injury-in-fact.  In other words, a 
plaintiff in such a case need not allege any additional harm beyond 
the one Congress has identified. 

xii. In the context of this particular case, these general principles tell 
us two things: On the one hand, Congress plainly sought to curb 
the dissemination of false information by adopting procedures 
designed to decrease that risk.  On the other hand, Robins cannot 
satisfy the demands of Article III by alleging a bare procedural 
violation.  A violation of one of the FCRA’s procedural 
requirements may result in no harm. 

1. Court uses the example of an incorrect zip code being 
reported on a credit report.  While that is the dissemination 
of false information, it likely will not result in any harm. 

xiii. Because the 9th Circuit failed to fully appreciate the distinction 
between concreteness and particularization, the case is remanded 
to determine whether the particularized procedural violations 
alleged by Robins entail a degree of risk sufficient to meet the 
concreteness requirements. 

f. Dissent – Justices Ginsburg and Sotomayor 
i. Robins would not qualify if he alleged a “bare” procedural violation, 

one that results from an incorrect zip code.  Far from an incorrect 
zip code, Robins complains of misinformation about his education, 
family, situation, and economic status, inaccurate representations 
that could affect his fortune in the job market. 

ii. The FCRA’s procedural requirements aimed to prevent such harm.  
Spokeo’s misinformation causes actual harm to Robins’s 
employment prospects. 

2. Post-Spokeo 
a. 1,112 Shepard’s ® citing decisions in 2.5 years, 141 7th Circuit citing 

decisions, 83 Illinois federal district citing decisions 
b. Trial court rulings from around the country: 

i. Diedrich v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, No. 152573, 2016 U.S. 
App. LEXIS 18196, at *9 (7th Cir. 2016).  The Diedrichs had 
standing to bring a RESPA claim against Ocwen where they 
alleged that they had suffered damage to their credit and were 
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forced to pay more money and higher interest rates as a result of 
the failure to keep them informed of their account information and 
timely respond to a borrower inquiry.  However, Ocwen was 
entitled to summary judgment on the claim as the Diedrichs failed 
to allege any causal connection between the alleged injuries, 
including the claim for emotional damages, and Ocwen’s failure to 
respond to the qualified written request for information.  

ii. Gubala v. Time Warner Cable, Inc., 846 F.3d 909 (7th Cir. 2017). 
Even if a cable provider might have violated 47 U.S.C.S. § 551(e) 
by failing to destroy a former subscriber's personally identifiable 
information, the standing requirement of Article III of the 
Constitution were not met because Gubala’s complaint seeking 
injunctive relief lacked allegations or evidence of any concrete 
injury that had resulted or was likely to result from Time Warner’s 
retention of the information. 

iii. Bock v. Pressler & Pressler, LLP, 30 F. Supp. 3d 283 (D.N.J. 2014): 
Bock filed suit alleging Pressler & Pressler (a debt collection law 
firm) violated the FDCPA by filing a complaint in state court 
without meaningful attorney review.  Attorney for Pressler & 
Pressler admitted he reviewed Bock’s complaint for four seconds 
before approving it.  Case remanded from appellate court back to 
trial court to determine if harm to Bock was concrete and 
particularized. 

iv. Ahmed Kamal v. J. Crew Group, Inc., Case 2:15-0190 (D.N.J. 
2017): Kamal alleged that on three occasions, J. Crew printed the 
first six and last four digits of his credit card number on 
transaction receipts.  The Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions 
Act requires that no business shall print more than the last 5 
digits of the card number upon any receipt.  The court dismissed 
the complaint and held that Kamal’s information was not disclosed 
to third parties or used to perpetrate credit card or tax fraud.  The 
court also rejected Kamal’s argument of increased risk of future 
identify theft as the first six digits of a card identify the issuer and 
the last 10 digits identify the card holder’s account.  By printing 
the first six digits, it did nothing more than identify the issuing 
bank and no concrete and particularized harm is relevant. 

v. Johnston v. Midland Credit Mgmt., 229 F. Supp. 3d 625 (W.D. 
Mich. 2017): Midland Credit Mgmt. sent a settlement letter to 
Johnston offering three options to settle a credit card debt.  The 
settlement letter contained an error and option two offered a blank 
discount percentage rate and monthly payments of $0.00 due by 
March 25, 2016.  Johnston accepted option two but Midland stated 
that option was an error and would not accept.  Johnston filed sued 
alleging deceptive practices, but his complaint was dismissed by 
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the trial court for failure to state a concrete harm.  The court 
dismissed Johnston’s argument that he suffered actual damages 
because he was not able to settle the debt for $0.00 and faced 
ongoing collection attempts in the future. 

3. On remand at the 9th Circuit – Robins v. Spokeo, Inc., 867 F.3d 1108 (Aug. 15, 
2017) 

a. In evaluating Robin’s claim of harm, the Court asked: (1) whether the 
statutory provisions at issue were established to protect his concrete 
interests (as opposed to purely procedural rights), and if so, (2) whether 
the specific procedural violations alleged in this case actually harm, or 
present a material risk of harm to, such interests. 

b. The court had previously observed that the FCRA “was crafted to protect 
consumers from the transmission of inaccurate information about them.”  
Relevant to Robins’s claims is that the statute specifically requires 
reporting agencies to “follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum 
possible accuracy” of the information contained in an individual’s 
consumer report. 

c. The 9th Circuit had little difficulty concluding that these interests 
protected by the FCRA’s procedural requirements are “real,” rather than 
purely legal creations. 

d. “Courts have long entertained causes of action to vindicate intangible 
harms caused by certain untruthful disclosures about individuals, and we 
respect Congress’s judgment that a similar harm would result from 
inaccurate credit reporting.” 

e. “In short, guided by both Congress’s judgment and historical practice, we 
conclude that the FCRA procedures were crafted to protect consumers’ 
(like Robins’s) concrete interest in accurate credit reporting about 
themselves.” 

f. It is clear to the 9th Circuit that Robins’s allegations relate facts that are 
substantially more likely to harm his concrete interest than the Supreme 
Court’s example of the incorrect zip code.  “It does not take much 
imagination to understand how inaccurate reports on such a broad range 
of material facts about Robins’s life could be deemed a real harm.” 

4. The future for statutory standing… 
a. Causation will be key.  The alleged misconduct must be the cause of the harm 

faced by the plaintiff.  Is no harm no foul the law of the land?  ¯\_(ツ)_/¯  
b. Increased costs of litigation.  Plaintiff’s will have to establish a concrete 

and particularized harm.  Less cases disposed of on a summary basis as 
issues of fact about harm suffered will be issue of fact. 
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c. Statutory violation in and of itself is no longer sufficient.  Plaintiff’s need 
to allege more than just a violation, they need to allege how they were 
harmed. 

d. Makes it more difficult for class actions. 
5. What does this mean for our practitioners 

a. Follow the decision in Spokeo whether prosecuting or defending a cause 
of action. 

b. Be prepared to go through extensive discovery. 
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